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FRIDAY July 11, 1975 FAREWELL TO MANZANAR:

The approach. One first moves nearly all the way around mount ;
Sahasta, across the foothills, a haigh flat palteau of about 4000
? common to much of the wets, decorated with bits of grass,

and sage?

Our of the hills and down across the valley one sees hay barns,

and a large insect like rig extruding golden bricks of hay

from the lush green and fragrant alfalfa. The towns are small
population 125, W_lcome to Butte Valley, the CC amd sign says with

an assortment of ﬁotary. Lion and other service club medalions

hung along the bottome much like Boy Scout Badges. The houses are
mostly small old, wood 1lframe type. the Tradithonal wodden

church jwith its clapboard siding and row of pointed gotheic

windows make it impossible to tell whether this town is in California,
Illinoise, Nebraska, whatever.

One of the features of the landscape that is a bit more a reminder
of city life axmxkkeximm is the innumerable hamburger stands,

But it seems that hey have all failed for I cannot find even one
theat seems to be opened. What do the local people do for
hamburgers? People do come into town for a little fun, for there are
boarded over bars.

A wonderhl between towns Sits on a pretty knoll over its surrounding
fields. It is covered with rough calpboard, probably the original,
carefully oildd but unpainted, A titdy wife's garden with roses

and all surrounds the house, Tt must have always remained int
gamily, Not all the wood frame houses have faired wos well-«-

there has been an attempt to modernise, to emulate the city,

which Rexey by the time it reached here, many times diluted,

amounts to a fities aqua or pink paint job, perhaps with a base of
fake falgstones.

A larger, town, (Dorris) right at the center of the area sports

a population of 1000, complete with a theratere boasting in large
letters on its side” The world®’s greatest Movies"., A beautifudl
hacut stone city hall doeinates a large lawn. Twoo lumber plants
with there kwxmemxx coniclal burners sit at the edge of town like
gateposts,

After turning off to 80 to tulelake there is a vast plain with

RE little signe of human habitations. It is a national wildlife sanctuaz
A sign with the silohuettes of a duck family says,”Don't rund down
your woldlife.” The ares is made up of ponds, Ducks, egrets and
numeourous songbirds dot the water and the shore. The road seems
like an endless strip of balck electirc tape running right down the
center of the area. The ponds dry up, and soda, or salt beds

are all that remain, blinding white, with Just few scruffy pieces
of grass on the higher ground, it is much like the @unes of

a4 snowy desert. I wonder if a fisherman like Ko had been sent here.
The tducks would prpabablg;not lookeds so bad, but this dry

ggrggg gggty world would ve been especially painful for a man
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SC 50: Calvin and Dori in bed the first morning after their arrival
in camp. It is not .only my first morning here but that of Gretchen Corb
bet who plays the nuaker nurse,; she looks on patiently, a bit
nervous, about her first scene which is comeing up. EkExxevening?

or the folowoing day? Bill Maley and Hiro decide to use gold

Mylar bounced through a window to g¥ve the scene an early morning
feeling. Verhon and Dori each lie on thef#r respective beds as

the crew prepares the scene., A blanket is changed from an older
wonn Japanese style quilt to a heavy brown Army wool blanket. over
Calvén. He patiently lies under this load in the searing heat.

As dust is speead over the room and especially over his bed

with a dust-filled cheesecloth bag and syringes. His face and

hair are also dusted by the make up man. Dori whét s% is not in

the first shot, sits patiently on her ad joiining bed, beating the
dutst out of her mattressin little poofs.

By now, it is early aftermnoon, and it is tryly hot and dusty,
although the wind is not heavey, it is gustly enough to blow

the powdery dust around, and in the door when it is open.

The cameras remain covered by plastic bags, the people just

trun their backs. The barack's interior is oven-like, The unfinished
lumber, covered on the exterior by black heat absorbent tarpaper
exudes heat in every direction. The heat pours off not only the
sides and poof, but even the floor. Vernon patiently bears up,
hardly moving, for the camera is being lined up. John decides
the dust on Vernon is not light enough in color to contrast
properly with the balnket. Another cheescloth bag ama& filled
with lighter filler is applied to Verncn. John p.aces his knee
and tells Hiro to begin his short tracking shot focused on the
knee so the image resembles a mountain. Several takes are madej
in the last Vernon can no longer stand the itchy dust and
inadvertently protrudes his lowere lip and blows. #®usk A little
clodud of dust comes off his face and hair. "Cut.” That was
great." It is one of those happy accidents that are so often

a dailypart of fimlmaking.

The same is done to Dori for the reverse shot, after which, he r
mother hustles her off for a complete scrub down and shampoo in
prpeparation fro her next scene.

The crew moves outside into the dust for the next scene., Benihiro
is carrying his contraband camera under axkmxxaf scrap wood in

a box. He trips and falls right on his face under flag pole,
several times, each time weemingly without any concern for his
safety. Ue clowns around a bit between takes. It is his nature,
and he has used it to give his character a wry, satiric quality.

In the evening, the set has cooled down a bit. The scene takes
place the first summer of the family's arrival. Ko is still
absent, just the women and children of the family, ar together.

‘\)
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Freshly scrubbed, Dori looks on as a confpoontation between
Misa and Alice is played out. The script superviosr notices
Grandma, who is dresed in kimono and jakket, has gotten out of
wardrobe in her navy blue tennis shoes. There is something comic
about it, for MItsu Yashima, an author, kzx looks the part,
except for that one item. Her slippers are quickly brought and
exchanged for the tennis shoes, even though her feet wkkkxmax
are not likely to be in the shot. Before the shot Nobu and Momo
paced through their pats furiously outside in the kasxx hot
dust, working themsleves up to a state of argument for the
seene,

himself a former internee,
Ben Kuwata,and his wife are waiting for their scene. Employed
by and advertising agency in New York, he has exbhanged his
usual sophistcated look and demeanor for a scruffy Veneck cardigan
and baggy pnts which don't really fit. He introduces me to
his wife, who has a plain brown house dress on and a scraf
tied backwrads over her hair. He says, "SHEAXXNAKXXXXKEX It's
a new stereotype. She looks like a Japanese Aunt Jemima."
In the real sense, the image is no funnier than the original
Aunt Jemeima, but looking at his slim preetty wife in that
get up, one cannont supress a smile. omeone else in the mess
hall comments that the women took to covering their hair because
there were so many people using ghe each bath house, keeping
your hair clean just one more day was a big accomplishment.

It is the last scene of the dayj Chiyoko and Teddy have just
arrived at the camp. They are very tired, the crew is very
tired too. Ben and his wife play another young married
couple with whom Chiyoko and Teddy must share quarters.

The scene is very short, but it easy to be tired at the end
of a shooting day. Chiyoko looks like a preety young woman,
who has yet to face some of the hardships of life, Suddenly,
she is thrown into this terrible sitaution. It is easy to
feel sympathetic. :

Ben also : The Kuwatas were acutally on vacation, and
volunteered to work in the film. Ben had met John when he
worked on a Kodak add, after Jane Pittman, that featured

John. "1 am continually amazed by how much he knows,” he said.
”and"he goes about it wkrhxswehxaxeakx in such a cool, reserved,
way e«

At dinner between scenes, I Met Bob Knoshita, the Production
designer and a former resident of Poston. ' Older, hard working,
and slightly balding, he is quiet by nature, but, as he

pushes his food about his plate, he comments," Here we are,
eating in the Tule Lake mess hall, After twenty~five years
itshard to beileive it actually happened.”

Nobu, who was still in Jpapan in the forties, comments about
post-war Jpan. "We were so grateful when food began to come in.
We were practically starving, but we didn't know what to do
with Western food. One week, we'd §et nothing but peanuts, or =

corn meal , or Criskco. People would just eat whatever it was o

as it came. Finally we had neighborhood meetings on how ta nrenara -
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«+"People would just eat crisco wright out the can. They couldn't
figure out how anyone could like it."” The war was not one-sided
in its travesties.

At the end of the day, Dori was exhausted. Sitting on her mother's
lap, she aksed,"Can we have some Jpapense food?'" This is tryly
meat and potato country.

SATURDAY JULY 12, 1975

John checks Gretchen's hair. The up sweep she is wearing is too
stylish for a Quaker girl. “he goes off the get a more severe,
plainer do, while the crew sets up. Dori and Vernon have been
reddeneded, oiled, and spritzed with water to apper feverish,

but it's not hard in this heat to look sweaty and uncomfortable.
Mksaxdnd Alice,wmx who is also a little sick, and Misa apply

wet compresses to the children®s heads. They have taken sick from
too strong a typhoid innoculation. Some of the crew have picked
up a mild, local virus, and feel appropriately punk for the scene
almost in sympathy with the script., Jeanne has gone so far as

to start bringing bottled water for her Husband and childreng

she carries it everywhere with her as though she were on a desert
outing, It is Gretchen's first appearance as Loisj; she is a little
nervous, sits ona cot in background with that almost catatnicn
stare that actors sometimes get as they search their insides for
the bight feelings for the scene. Finally, they rehearse., Mid way
through the scene, pisa, who is so grateful for the nurse's attention,
gives her a silk scard in appreciation. She foists it on her.

Nobu and Gretchen work it out, Nobu explaining that the older
Jpanese would be terribly insistient, no matter how much the
recipient would refuse, they would persist, winning in the end,

by simply thrusting the gift into the recipient/s hands. Nobu
explains to Gretchen that ixxkawxzke image is what she will

be using for that part of the scene,

Meanwhile, Dori has been prepared for she odori scene, She and
the three other girls and women have bemn dressed in yukata.

hey make a startling oontrast with the stark camp..slike flowers
in an unexpected place. Dori is a little nervous, am¢ she has

never done the traditional odori dance; She has

aleo begun to unconsciously do what the adult players do: start
preparing for an upooming scene, Of the four women and girls, she
is removed in the midst of the surrounding set prpeartion, wiping
her head with a hankerchief as she stares at the floor thinking.
It ia hhe first pretty scene shot, a scene late in camp life
when some of the comforts have been restored by the persistent
work of the camp's residents and the easing up of restrictions

by the WRA., Everyone responds openly to the mk releif the scene
presents faxm from some of the other heavier, and sadder, recreations
of camp life,
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Dori si very direct. She always gives her best efforts does as

she is asked. But she is not a docile child, she is very energetic,
playing off moments with the other kids, and today, fighting with
her brother, who has come up with ther father to visit,

She does the s8leeve tossing movement demonstrated to her by

a temn ager quite well, with just the right amount of hesitation,
suitable to a beghnner....a slight tightening of the lips, as

she tries, a little nodding of the head, as she gets a little
behind in her movements. The two grils sit down and bow formally
to the teacher,

EXT: Misa and Jeannie bring a tray of food to Grandmother,
Dori's father moves about in the background with his 8mm
camera, trying to get a good shot of his daughter. He's very
proud of her, but very discreet about making any display of
it.

In the mess hall, some of the mothers, and other extras,

bored by the lack of anything to do while waiting, help

braid straps from old cloth for geta, the wooden Japanese

clogs raised by little blocks of wood on the soles., Others,
already dressed for a scene play cards, Kinsohitajs assitants
saw ans sand the wooden soles and blocks at the end of the mess hall
where the wood shop has been set up. In stil another corern,
Norma, the hairdresser, busily clips the men's hair, which lies
in a pile around her feet, or gives upsweeps to the women.

Over all this acrivity, someone has brought a tape recorder
from which pours popular Jpapenese musci,

Carolyn Abe, the companies, resident film student, is having
coffee and going vver some of the hundreds of releases necessary
for every extra that has apart., She is young, round-faced,

with a mough full of braces that make her seem younger than

her senior status at Stanflord. "I wanted very much to work

on this film,"she says. I really feel liéicky, because there

are so many better qulified people than me. My teacher, who
knows and has worked with John, was a little surprised I

think , when I told him." He said,"Don't blow it." "That

made me kind of mad, but at the same time I know what he means.”
I really don't want to blow this épportunity.” She is enthusiastic,
but not pushy about it, which is something that many students,
unable to contain themselves do. She worries a lot ahout doing
everything well, about being on the spot when needed, but she
dowsn't run around like a puppy, here and there, getting in

the way. Asked why she's into film, she doesn'r really have

a pat answer, she just likes it, Now, that she's had an opportunity
to work on a set, she questions whether more schooling will

be of any help to her., She's discovered that there are far

more people in the business than there are jobs. "I've really
enjoyed working with the extras. The other day some of them

were finished, and had to leave and I felt like crying., I

think I get too amotional, too attached.....Movie people

are like gypsies, they come together, get very close and

then separate.?



SATURDAY JOY 12, 1975

A Saturday barbeque has been arranged; Bill Malley is the chief
cook, as he carries a propane barbeuge in hsi turck as a part
of his equipment. It seems, one can always count on the grips
and fax gaffers to quickly locate the best food and drienk

on location. Ashort drive, some xkm ten miles to Malin, just
over the border, and we were in a beautiful grassy park with
an Olympic swimming pool and playground wquipment. It seems
strangely placed for the gwamxmmmx Town's business districts
consists of a bout a dozen buildings along khExwx about

a block of the road. Steakd, ahmburger,s hot doags and

salda are in the works., but a strong and stormy wak wind comes,
up, and everything starts blwoing around as the sky darkens.
Sheets of rain can be seen a few miles off. Maley im&ists on
optimism as a weapon against a close out. Still, the few people
doing the preparations start thingking about how to cover
everything up. There isn't even any shelter, for the few
early arivals have taken all the cars to go out and search
for ice and garlic powder. Those remaining would be stuck
under the trees, should axxhumd the thunder shower =mmx pass
over the park. No one new has arrived, things dont look so
good, but after about a half an hour the storms turns and
heads away from the park, only because of Bill's optimism,

or so he claims. The danger passed, people begin to arrive
and eat, and soon, a x¥mx pleasant gathering is in progress,
people chatting in ways that are not possible in the midst

of a work day. Earlier, the life guard from the pool came
over and asked in the midst of the wind, whether anyone was
going swimming. It was clear enough that no one would arrive
in time., We told her to go home, and we would tell everyone
that she closed the pool because of the lightning danger.
Bill foisted a hamburger on her before she 1lgft.
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Eating out” on your day off around here largely involves

a choice betw een two restaruants, much the same in qulity

and denu range. The neat coffee shop, complete with revolving
advertiser clock over the counter, is filled with two kinds

of people:....aeatly dressed older coupl s and young families
having lunch after going to meeting and the €ilm cast and
crew.having breakfast after sleeping in.

The production assistants are having a quick lunch before

getting the sixty or so extras for mondays' shoot housed, and so f
forth. "It's amazing," said Carolyn,"how everybody immediately
gets along, immediately seem to feel some kind of rapport.®

She is young and enthusiastic, but not in a naive way. Her
feelings about film are more geneine. than that.

We take our coffee cups and go over to join several members

of the cast who have just come in to lunch. Nobu shows up

two recent purchases: a 1938 McCall's magazine and a Jpanese__
salt shaker without its mate. She's very pleased with her finds.
SteveMori, as always caryying his Nikon and tape recorder, hx

also has a cardboard carton full of wonderful family photographs---
turn of the centrury bride and groom, in traditional Victorian
pose, he standing beside his seated wife who wears a fluffy white
blouse and long banded skirt. He sports a handsome handlebar
mustache. Other pictures follow...the Jpapanese American flapper.
vistis to Jpane, agroup picture of the Oakland Buddhist

Chure dated in beaturiful pakemexyxx9® palmer , 1906. “inally,
there is one ablum which as forties pictrues taken at Topas,

four loveleies in white uniforms with Tppaz beauty parlor scriblled
across one corner, some high school girls leaning against a

tree in a winsome pose., a traditional wedding and all the other
shots of whakxsxernxuwakkiyxkesamex the prison that eventually

became a village.

The cast pores over them, picking up details which for some,
are well before their time.

Nobu tells of her casting for the part. Her first reading

was well -received by John, Jeanne and Jim, but they felt she
was too young, too thin, and too pretty. John asked her to return
again, at another time, if she thinks she cendo something with
herself. The scond reading was with Yuki Shimoda. She had
boutght herself an old thrigt shop special, and packing any
proper padding, wrapped a beach towel around her middle to
sugges t middle-aged portliness, am¢ salt and pepered her
hair, emphaisezed famkia facial lines to hide her ususal

good looks. As she and Yuki begaa to walk around in
preparation for hex their reading, Jeanne innocently asked,

" Yuki, are you looking for something?" Yuki responded by
gruffly telling Nobu to get out. " ? knew he was ready, when
he did that, " she recalled.
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John quickly shhh'd ,eanne telling her that he was preparing.

Nobut said, "I wasn't worried about Yuki hitting me or anything,

I trust him completely and so, I was able to be really wholehearted.”
I had brought along the tray of food caloed for in the scene, jsut
carrot and clelery sticks, cause 1 knew he was going to just

throw them all over the room."

When I came in, I even walked a little stooped. Jeanne looked
at me and said,*' Nobu?..Nobu, is that you. You really do look
like my mother."

Yuki: "We really got into it, I really threw her on the bed,

and we really went at it." John, Jeanne and Jime, wer e just
completely silent for a moment after we finished...until I

said, 'that's it'. ‘hey were really taken aback by our intensity."

All this mmEmakx recall of mumEm their mutual experience was flavored
with that pesmXx mixture of vanity and the need for reassurance
that characterizes actors. They need to be reassured, to be supported,
and yet, they are often very headstrong, seem to be completely
sure of themselves.

piped up,
Akemi zddmd," Joh is so good, he really knows haw to make you fell
appreciated "

Yuki mayx was in the Tule Lake camp...esaxxackx block 36. He is agreat
storyteller relating several incidents from that itme when he was

18, Once, he went over to another block 52 to see a freind, and
stopped off in the latrine. All the services in the camp, mess halls,
laundreis and latrines were in approximately the dame place in each'
block, except sometimes one side of the latrine would be womens'

in one @amx block while in another, thetsx side would be mmmXx mens.

It was a horrble, dusty day, practically impossible to see. he ran
into the latripe, and thought,xERkxxkxx boy, they weally keep things
up over here. “t had little partitions and was very tidy. So he sat
himself down, and the next thing he knew he heard women's voices.
"Boy, you've never seen anyone pull up their pants and a run out

of there so fast. I have never forgotten that, " he said.

Anther time, in wonter, he and his grilfriend were walking on

an iced over sewage pond, he called it going iceskating, but I'm not
clear on that. As he was guiding her along, sure enough, she fe#&l

in. He said it took a bit of ding to get her out as she was wearing

a very heavy winter coat. He was laughing, but she was dripping wet from
head to foot. "her mother wacribbed from top to boottom with lye

soap." Iasked wheter she contineed to be heis gril, He said,” Oh,

she was my dancing partner. Lucy. I'll never forget Lucy."” We used

to dance in a back room with a viececord player so much that wex
the bunch of us literlally wore out the linoleum."”
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Absorved in the time of the event, hés face changes, to a bit more
melancholy look; he is for the moment, 18, and living in Tule Lake.

"I never expected to use that part of my life in my acting, but it
seems everything has its time."...."i'm bvery excited about the
part, I've been writing down everything I could rmemeber this
morning. omorrow when I get on that bus and come into camp to

do my first scene, I'm going to go over it, I'm going to be really
arriving."”

EROMxARQ¥EXNMRMXxX Q¢ have you met Doré and Calvin?
Oh yes. I knew Calvin's father,(and mother?0 in camp.

Nobu: "That's what so womdderful about john's shcedueling. I did
soething about the latrine and them the arrival first.”
Gretchen adds,Xthat her first scene was also the one she frist did."

The director's the thing ¥Wuki), and I think John is very sensitive
to the material. I am really looking forward to this part.

YUKI: John tolda me I had to lose some weight. I'm trying, I'm trying,
I said. someone comments that the location food will be of some

help , for as usual it is ample, but mediocre fare. "I don't like

to eat, I hate afternoons . You are so sleepy after the break.
Mornings. that's my favorite time.

Akemi said she also felt up bewween 4 and 8 in the even9ng. "It's
a physiologicla rythym," she adds.

Nobu has been talking about how it is important to be nice to
the cameramamn, bring him tea and all. "oh yes. Yuki adds with
great emphasis. You must be nice to the cameraman. Someone lets on
that Hiro's weakness is not tea or coffee but pickels,; Akemi
questions him, Tsukemono? Tkauwan?"” "Kim chee.”" he answers. Ahh,
kim chee" she says, thinking about how nice it would be to have
some. "There is one Jpanese restau uant bout thirty miles from
here" "I don't want to be too comfortable faxxxhixxpa. Iwant
to really do this part," reflects Yuki, unshaven and slightly
grubbly looking for his first scene, his arrival at the camp.
"It's better this way."

The cast continues tochatter about their profession:

"arex I knew I was going to be an actor when I was about seven,
says Yuki. "Our Buddhist priest onced asked the childten what
they were going to be when they grew up. Kids uaualyy have no
idea, but idid. I raised my hand and said,'I'm going to be an
actor.' Ithink he was a little surpised by how sure SI was.
five or six years ago, Jux he was very old, jit was just before
he kd died, I went to see heim. He took great relish in
recalling that incident."”
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Yuki continued,” I was such a movie buff when I was a kid.."
"me too, adds Akemi. " I used to just love to go to the moveis,
Carol Lomba d, Gary opper, I thought they were just wonderful”
(yuki) Akemi reminisces over cary Grant.

YUKI: I was caustioned about my enthusians for acting. I never
thought about how the way I looked myght affect my career, I just
knew what I felt.ee.

‘here is an unspoken understanding ofthe sitatuaion. “here has
been little opportunity for the Asian actor. It is many times
the struggle that Caucasiona actors must go through.

Akemi felt her hair do and all was too old for her first

scenes, She worries abit, but almost everyone on the set

loved her arrival outfit, a neat suit, a beautiful k=

pompadour tucked under a yellow salad bowl type hat. She looked
so fresh, young, beautiful...like a young woman who has not

yeat had to face anything terrible. Suddenly she is cat into
camp, without privacy, without warning, she must endure not
gnlilher own hardship, but that mfxxkexemgikr felt by the entire
amlilyee

10



JULY 13 cont‘'d
DAILIES:

Around five in the afternoon the company gathered in the heart
of Iulelake before its one movie theatre, the Marcha; It is

a forlorn thirties special with black and maroon tile front,
stepped crenelations at the top of the facade, and those typical
curved door pulls. One expects to pay a quarter to see an
matinee with clark gable, or Betee Davis as the stars, but
instead the no longer used Marcha is our screening room.

Inside, only thexmemge seats in the center section remain,

and a the origianl screen is gone. the heating equipment, etc.
can be seen behind our smaller screen. Stenciled Deco flesigns
and fake painted marble panels ornament the interior walls,
several aqau blue hexagonal chandleiers serve as house lights,

There is something awful about dailies. Everyone on the crew
wants to know that their efforts have turned out OKj; at the

same time, sttting beside your peers and director and anticpating
watching bloopers by your departemnt is painful. As one person
put it, Of course, I'm going but I watch them by peeking through
a crack in my hands which I put aver my eyes.

The reels go by, an actor comments about how her hair had
fallen down a bit in the bus scene. She woriies a bit, but then,
decides that it will probably be abll rights sincexkexx that
scene occrus at the end of a long bus trip, where it would be
natural to be a bit messy.

Zenihiro's scen have the touch of the comic about them. It is
clear that this character is dead serious about the camps, but
he plays his part by going around the system to bring a cameria
into camp, and get into other mischiegs The crowd alughs at
couple of his lines, which have a devilish ring to them:

to Calvin: Have you seen the Army stock room? HMmess.

John comments about how Pat Morita continued to wear his tags

throughout his part. The wardrobe and continuity people tried

to get him to rmove tt khe for the scenes following his arrival
but he insisted that Zenihiro would wear xhmmx it as a
protest. John Agreed. At the end, where he is leaving, he
comes out his barmack's door with his luggage, and tosses
it into the room.

Bob comments to one of his neighbors, that the flag used in
the picture belongs to the owner of the Plying ,oose Lodges

It was, unfortuantely, the flag that came on his son's coffin
during WWII,

Check with zjim Houston about Lillian Baker mentioned by
Jo n as threatening to sue if they showed the plaque at Manzanar.
Sue Emry also has had some run ins with her.
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From the leftove r fixings another barbeque was held at the
prk after the dailies. The crewd was not as large, jsut afew
people from the crew and most of the principal cast.

One of drivers supervising the hamburgers commented about
how cooking meat over a fire was supposed to be very basic,
almost a primal meal. I asked Gretchen whexkexxshexfaix

how she felt about beeing a Quaker nurse, for I hawe only
seen her play parts whkkek in which she looks very much as

she does in rela life. "I do feel it, being the only hkau jin.
And most of the actors have worked to gether a 1 lot before.
Everyone x® is really nice, I'm not excluded or anything, I
jsut feel a little behind." There was no time to follow that
thread ans everyone begah to afrive and eat.

Dori's mother came with the piece de resistance, a pot of

rice. All the Jpanese Aemricans were thrilled, for the caterer's
attempts at rice cooking resulted in a pasty concoction that
would appeal to no one. Dori's father had brought up pickles,
radishes, skkx chirimen..pickeled fish, homemade mmoked slamon,
and other goodies. Akemi sat and taught Dick Nova how to
handle chopsticks, while some teriyakesauce was made for the
left over steakds. Everyone ate the arice quite discreetly,
but with great relish. It was as though they had been famkzkmd
stavved for several days, which istfar from the truth when

one considers what location food is always like.

At one end of the table déri's and Vernon's mother talked with
some of the extras about their favorite Jpanese movies, Yuki joined
in, Oen person like Nakadai, another thought he wastoo prety.

The lady in twenty-four eyes was acllaimed by eberyone.

The script supervisor talked with me briefly about theorganizational
aspects of production. She can do them, but sometimes, the wealth
of detall #s overwhelmeing and nearly impossible for one person

to keip up with. I told her how some of the exras Just thought

she was taking a few notes, and wer surpised to hear how much
information she had to keep track of , and how much she had to

do after hgurs to make sure it was in readable from for the

edietrs. he just laughed" 111 try to look busier from now

Oon.

Reg and his wife Resemary stopped by. First thing he wanted

to know was who was paying for the picnic,, joking in his
accountant's way. Early in the day, he had come out to the

lawn in fromt of themotel and passed out Heineckesn, his favorte
of mayn beers he drinks. "Don't worry, it's ooming out of youre
per diems,"he said. Excusing himself, he said,"I'11 think I'11
g0 in my room and count my money."
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Today is the day of Ko's arrival, It is a big scene, one that
the entire "Wakatsuki family” has been building up to. In
make up Nobu, Momo, and Akemi are getting ready. Nobu:

Now, Alice, remeber Papa doesn't like lipstick." &A%k Momo
seeing a blue ribbon on the counter, "Can I wear a ribbon
in my hair?" Already, the group has started to become unit,
the family roles overlapping with off camera rimmx life.
Monica, the four year old daughter of the child players®
teacher, sits at Nobu's feet, fascinated with Don lepages’
transformation of her frxmmxaxk model-like beauty into an
agin§ middle aged woman. "Why are you painting ke on her
face?'" Nobu! "Well, I have to look like Grandma, right?"
Monica nods, although still a bit confused.

Yuki shuffées out of the dressing room, deep in concentration.
Non one disturbs him, just nods. He is clearly already working
himself up. Nobureally dows not want to seem him before their
scene toagether. He suhuffles out into the space between the
barracks, looks at the begetables there. He had hoped to not
come to the camp at all before the scene, but to dress and
make up at the hotel, Practical considereations and a large
cast call for the day, made that impossible. He asks"Do
people live here? All this pine paneling etc,"” People do

live here at Flying osse Lodges, many of them older coupldes,
some farm workders and hungers in season. The owner has been
gradually selling the bungalows off one at a time.

It's easy to see how he might feel about the change, the idea
of someone wanting to live in what, in actual fact » had been
a prison for hime as a young man., He knew yesterday, that it
would be hard for him to see this place again, but he also
knows that those feelings will kelp him in his role.

Jim Huston, is to double for the Holtzman character, the
adminstrato fo the camp. Dressed in a Fedora and long overcaota
he litterally towers over everyone on the set, for he is a

big man to begin with. Asked if he ever acted, he said,"only
in college, I was always more interested in writinge....Actir

is almost too immediate. There yéuare, out there, and what you
do is what your do. With writing at least, you can do it over
and over, before exposing it to anyone eles." Siw« S<lf-conscious nens
Ao an acton

Ther first scene to bf shot is the departure of Richard and
Teddy for the Army. t is supposed to be December so everyone
is wearing heavy wointer coats, scarves and hats in the noon
sums The cast throws them back over their shoulders dmw to

hang behind their backs from their elbows, whe n they are not
rehearsin., More dust is brought in and spread around in billowing
clouds. Akemi, hikes up her pregnancy pillow from time to time,
as Chiyoko, she is supposed to be four months prgenaat,
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Hiro is sitting on his dolly in the middle of a Japanese
garden Bob Kinsohita has built for the picture. Behind the
small curmed bridge, beneath an umbrella, the camera crew
looks comically out of place. The scene is complicated, the
bus must arrive at a certain point, people must load in a
ceratain ofder, camera angles must be &leared of extras fo
show the principals, etc. A line of overdressed, wool swathed
extras patiently wait as the ADs pick out and make up families.
"Do you speak Jpanese? And you? OK. you and you and you are
one family. Stand over here. Durng the scene just talkin
Japanese. I'll get back to you and tell you when to get

on the bus.""You understand, your son is going off to the
army." And so forth.

The scene is finally ready, and rehearesed. Calivn takes a
picture of the family, they hugg and kiss A two year old,
playing the part of Chiyoko's first child is very cooperative,
“bye, bye, Dady, she says over and over, waving tmxxkex

and pointing to the bus. The cameras are moved up for
close-ups. Akemi and Clyde rehearse their good=-bye kiss at
the door of the bus for the cameraman. They clown it up,
holding on to it beyond what is needed. Akemi brekas away,
smotting her kw protruding tummy with "Teddy..Really" kind

of style.

‘Rex Just as the bus is pulling away a car which has gotten
ghrough a sid street not policed, rolls into the shot, spoinling
the end of it. It means one more take in the heat. A teanaged
extra faints. the make-up man and a wiaingn extra take her

into the mess hall to lie on a cot. TRexxoksxafxyugxSitting

on the row of jusgs, holding lemonagde, water and coffee is

a bottle of salt tablets that were'nt there yesterday.

The crew moves to the gate where Ko bs to arrive. A huge

gray and ancient byss is waiting there, wired by jump cables to
a pick up truck. t % is so ancient , it no longer stars on
its own. The driver, treats it like a baby to Reep it going.

Ko finally comes out. Everyone steers clear, Nobu walking

off to not see him., th he comes up and asks,the make up man,
"is maynose too red. “he make up man obliges by softeneing

the broken red veins he has put on his nose.” Yuki shuffles around,
and gets on the bus am quickly as he can. Jean and her husband,
wait anxiously on the sidleines with lou Frizzel, who will be
playing himself...i.e. the drama taecher at the camp. in one

of tomorrow's scenes. It is the first time I have seen her
pace around, with an anxious look on her face. She ususally is
80 sunny, the company diplomat who takes care of overyone,

talks with all the extras, and checks out the set dression for
accuracy.
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The bus chugs out, haltingly at first. The familys is lined

up in greeting by the gate. A large number of the extras

have gathere in the background, sensing this is an important

scenes The bPamily is happily excited as the bus pulls into the shot.

The bus pulls up, and stops. Anumber of people, some Caucasians
from the camp administration, other Jpapanese workers who may
have been in the fields and few other arrivals transferred from
other camps get out. There is a pause. Then, the tapping of
Ko's cane. He shuffles down the steps and just stands there.
The set is deadly quiet. Everyone is startled by hhe presence
he has created druing the drive out in the vus. Dori runs

to him first, throwing her arms around, him. Then Nobu,

crying, slowly, lxawkmx approaches him., followed by other
members of the familyg.

It has been overcast, but the sun pops out suddenly, a
cameramman's nightmare. he yclose down quickly, the grips
handling reflectors feather off, but there is no way of

knowing what kind of exposure and which sections of the

shot may be thin on the negative. The cameraman uses his
veiwing class, lookingup at the sun, to estimate how mach®

time km they have either behind the clouds or clearly sunny.
Akemi has moved back as the scene is set up again. The make

up man, kKx wipes the tears from the family's eyes and fixes
their make up. "That wasn't hard to respond to, she says,

"I got goose pimples when I saw him. My feelings came on

so fast, I had to pull them back a little." Everyone on

set mumrmurs, a little relieved from the power of the scene

in between takes. Nobu paces off her sad feelings to get

ready to repeat the happy opening. Finally, the sun, the bus,
and the actors are all in the right place. The scene is done
again, several times, eith close-ups. Once finished, Nobu and
Yuki hug each other, crying and laughing at the same time, in
a gushing release of the tensions and emotion. The crew and the
watchers on also begin to move about freely. People seemed to
have been glued to hteir places during the scene. Several of
the on-lookers, many of them formerly in camps, blow their noses.
Later, Maley, a 20 year feteran, said, “"When I saw him come out.
My stomack just tightened up, I could just feel it coming on.

Nobu goes off to the dressing room, but Yuki stops to say,
"That was so awful, but it felt so good too. There were a lot
of feelings there, that even I hadn't thought about. that
came out during that moment. It was like therapy."

Jim huston gets into one of the vintage cars for his drive

in shot. The dust has really begun to blow around the set,

making the Ycene look grgat but mak}ng the crew and extras
3ncoT rotable., Branfg the 1rﬁ¥ assitant keeg? working on
eeping the camera clean, checking now and again under its

plastic coveiing.
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Yuki also stopped %o speak to one of the older Yxtras that had
been looking one. ‘hey had been both in camps. ‘hey chat freely
in Jpanese, the extra complimenting heim, them going on to

talk about their mututal experiences. Yuki is very pleased
with how the scene came out for him, andnow feels more relzxed.

Just after the drive by goes through a van, with Lou Frixzzell
arives, Jeanne rushes over from her seat on the greass to greet him,
says she'll join him momentarily at the production office.

Coming back to get her things, she says to “ue emery, wk of the
Manazar committee,"he hasn't changed much ahs he? Sue agrees.

Thw wind is about as bad as it can get after lunch, during which
Hiro has given Bob the worHing in characters for a sign Bob is
making. bob, a Nisei speake Jpanese fluently, but never had

the opportunity to learna o read and write it. Hiro , An young
isseei, has checked around with some of the other older people
to insure the characters, which have changed since the fortie,s
are in period.

Still, the extras, patiently wait in the gress, some lying down
to keep the dusx stinging dust out of theri eyes. “ome sit in

a bus which won't be uxed in the scene showing the men of the
famed 442ned going off after visint thier families on leave.
The Ads run around forming new families as before, placing them
and telling them when they will waldk to the pus. One boy in
unifrom introdueced to his pretend parnets, bows with a

"ha jimemashite" (how do you do). The bow in return before
embarking an an accive converstion in Jpanese while waiting

for the camera to be set up and the ancien t bus to be started
once again. The entire crew has put on safety goggles in

their effeorts to comabe the dust. Barney hovers overthe camera,
Those wearing glasees under googles are particlualry comical,
expecialyy "“ike Evie whose gogdles are light blue, ginging him
a space man look. Art Rochester hovers over his custom sound
equipment cart. the drmawpullmechanism has got grit,.in it, casuing
a scratchy sound when he pulss in aback and forth. e's trying
to clean it out. Impossible . he's envleoped in another cloud

of dust which he turns his back to.
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The families head for the bus waving a sad farewell as a could of dust
rolls in once again. ‘he bus pulls out slowly leaving the families
waving at the gate.

One boy had a really short haircut, and looked like he had Just
gotten out of boot camp. Another was one young man who has been taking
enormous number of pictures.

Dori, Vernon, their mothers and Momo are sitting watching and
waiting on the steps of makeup. The women here have taken up
making quilt squares in the very old American pattern called the
cathedral window. Momo busily stitches one of her blue denim squares
together as she talks. Asked how many of the cast come form

the East West Players, she says." Yuki, Nob, my motherm my brother,
And akemi. Q:How about jim Saito, "I'm working onit, Im'm working
onit. Dori si obviously fascinated by the playders® idea. Having
been chosen from her work in a five minute educataional film,

she has not had any training, and now, is a bit curious as to

how actors become actors."Do they have any children"she asks

"oh, yes. we st had achildrens' program." "They aren't mostly
Jap. are they?" "yes, they are."” Dori thinks and moment , then
goes imto the dressng room to get ther quilt squares, whidh she

has started only since her arrival here. D: "How old are the kids."
"Well, I worked with the dance group...they ran from four to 15"
"How many 15 year olds were there?' "Oh, About a third." Momo
sensing Dori's curiousity is more serious than just an inquiry.
goes on, "We did two programs one for the little kids and one

for the older kids." "Dori's mother adds that she has found

a profram throu§h the JACL, sh e thinks, inSF, that she is going

to check out. he Asian Actos' Workshop is amentioned, as well

as the Childrens®' Workshop at ACT. Dori listens, but busies herself
with untangling a knot in her handiwork.

Calvin is standing around, wkxhx wearing a short sleved white shirt
and tie, his hands in his pockets. He speaks with a certain matter
of factness. "Well I saw an add in the Nichibei, «eyes, I think it
was the Nichibei, and I wrote in. They sent me some forms. I filled
them out and sent them back (forms were extra froms). Well, nothing
happened, so my mother called Korty's studio, and it just happened
that John Korty answered. He asked how old I was, and my mother
said thriteen. He said he was looking for a 13 year old boy, and
asked if I would be willing to read for him. I did, and that's how
I got the job." He enjoys telling this story with a eertain amount
of understatement, as if it were not all that exciting to be in

a movie, but just something he happened to xk do trhis sugmer instead
of going camping. He's interested in cameras and gear, as are

most of the boys on the set, who given a chance take a peek through
the eyepiece. "I want to get a camera, a good camers. He peers
into the lens of the one I am wearing around my neck." Obviously,
the Instamatic I 've seen him with is no longer of interest since
he's seen so many people running around taking pictures ith

single reflex jobs, some of them very facny.
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I take the camera off and let him look it over, look through
the viewer. We sit on the grass and I Bhow him how the smaller
the f stop the larger the hole, and that means the depth of
field is less. He palsy around looking at a couple of waiting
extras down the way, to see the difference. He picks up

my meter, and we sort of go through how that works, what

the difference between an incident and reflective reading is.
He's very bright, asks a few questions, but catches on almost
immediately. I', m about to let him take a couple of
pictures when the "Wkatsukis" are called to the gate for
Momo's going away scene.

Mamaxam Alic has found a Quaker sponsor through Lois, &o she

may leave the camp and go to school. Sheis older, no longer
wearing school girl girls and saddle shoes, but an Andrew sisters
up sweep, and fashionalbe pumps. Still, she clowns around with
the younger kids. It is a summer scene, but it is windy and
cooler, It seems the summer scenes, when the actors mast go
without jackets, are always played when it's a bit cool, and
winter scenes kmxm when the playdrs myst wear heavy overcoats,
and must ssand in the mid day heat. Nobu goes over to one

of the crew and says,"Give me a couple of dollars." "Sure,

how much do you need?"” fiot understanding that she wants the
money right then, she asks again, " I need it now."” "Oh, I

see, you want it for the scene." Shh shh. she says I don't giggling
want her to know." Xk& Nobu, playing the mother, goes over

to Yuki and takes heim aside while the crew is finishing

lining up the camera, she whispers in his ear asshe presses

the cash into his hadn, He nods. Momo watches, senses something
is up, but has no idea what. The family is ahppy for Alice,
happy that she has an oppurtunity to get away. For Yuki, it

is a little sad, the boys are gone, and now Alice, Slowly his
family is slipping away, but he plays the scene with a combination
of melancholy and good cheer. Finally, yu,i springs the money
on Alice, she takes the surprise very well "Oh,, Daddy,.."

she says. The two girls get an the bus, and just before it

pulls away, she rmembers something she has forgotten. The
family remains, esamller again by another person kxxxk standing

in the cloud of dust in the vening sun.

Jeanne tells me of how her nieces, amny of whom are on the set,
get bored, ask what they can do,"Well, I con't know, let's ee.
One says, :Well, what did you do when you were in camp?

They are slipping into the false front reality that surrounds
the movie. Finally, Jeanne found them something to do:

help with the making of getas . She says, "It is a direct
parallel, the boredome, the firling something @o do, often
manking something.” So her nieces busily braid the straps

for the getas as the wooden soles pour from the woodshop.

%
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Vernonjs mother and father were at Tule Lake, and new
Yuki Shimaoda, but she says,"that was so many years ago.
We also Knew Drew's mother from school. It's funny how
mayny of us here have some connection to another.”

Monica, who earlier was watching Nobu' make up, has been
waiting anxiously for a week to be used. Fiannly, she gets

her chance, to do a wlak through in Holtzman's arrival scene.
She is thrilled, getting dressedup and walking by the two takes,
but she would have liketd to keep doing it. "Is that all, she
asks her mother on the sidelines after.

Calvin asked if he wants to be an actor, says, "no, I want
to be a photgrapher.

TUESDAY JULY 15, 1975

Rain, and lots of it. It's going to muck up the talent show,
but John says he must shoot it because the talent is here.
The crew works toxxapx trarp in the set, wegile kids who
have gotten away from theri mothers play in the mude,
jumping puddles, and generally getting as dirty as possible.

John, meanwhile, is examining the main interior set which

has been leaking; there are puddles all along one side of

the building. He decides to do a sceene of a PTA meeting

held in the winter. " Put buckets under the leaks, and

put the tea and cookies over here on this rough table.

Better move those books out of the rain though.”

Outside the camera crew prepares to shoot some muddy walking
scenes. Inside the crowded mess hall, Drew Takahashi, the
community liason who has worked with various Jpanese American
groups to get extras, asks for volunteers to do wlaking in
the rain scens. A few girls get on some getas form the factory
at one end of the room and practice walking in them.

Lou Frizzell, who actually plays himself in the film, recalls
coming back: "momo and I were practicing her number for the
talnet show over &n the set where the piano is. The rain was
dripping into a bucket and the piano was slightly out of
tune. That's the way it really was, it was as if notheing
had changed."

Jeanne had herad Momo practicng form the outside as I had.
It was strange to hear someone singing through the
tarpaper walls. They seem so dead, so wooden , WERRXEX
when one passes them. She listens for a bit, and her eyes
begin to fill. Her sister Lillian, wka on whom Momo's
character is based, has joinged her. "just seeing him there,
changigg the muic, correcting a lyric, brings it all back,"
Says. eanne.

i9
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Lou goes on,"I was about 22 when I came here, just out of
school, eager to teach. We had nothing to work with, but

the people were so appreciateive, it was really regarding.

I1f hadn't done all these musicals, and talent shows, I

probably wouldn't have tried show business. But I thought:
*Why not? "ho knows?' I probably would have just been teaching
mus ¢ in some ordinary high school.

"Recently, I went to one of the Manzanar class renunions. How
old they've all become I thought. Some of them are grandparents
now, but we still feel the same inside.

I was unable to serve in the Army becasue of sympathetic
hypertension, so I was looking for a teaching job when...
The Second AD comes to the dressing room to fetch Lou
faxxRksxfkxsxxsaemex to check out the progress on the
talent show set. ZMadame Butterfly's famous aria is now
oouring out of one of the barracks over the mm incredibly
sticky mud the fine fbury doust makes when wet.

Ginenger Tanaka, one of the extras, a slight pretty woman
who speaks in a fast manner came up from San Francisco,

afte r hearing about the movie from a freined in Sacramento.
Born in 44 at the hart mountain camp, she &am & wanted to
particpate because she felt it was important show how an
Executive Order can be used against people--not just us--
but it could happen to any group. Asked wk How her parents
felst about her particpations she said,” They were very
glad, encouraged me to bring my children as a way of having
them come into contact with their own history." My little
girl { whos stand beside her reading a book) read the book.
Her response so far to making the movies has been ' Is this
where everyone really ate? It's so dusty, momma.® In a week
or so, her impressions will really come out. She's the kind
who takes it all in and then comments on it later, when you
least expect ti. My boy, on the other hand is more fascinated
with all the moviemaking ewuipemnt and technical stuff, than
with the story."

The mes s ahll is fil}ed to the brim with extras, playing cards
and drinking coffee. “he whole place smells of wet 1940s woolens
pulled from storage for the costumes. Two neatly coifed girls
in kke skirts and blouses and saddle shoes look out &k through
the window," Was it really this muddy, then," says one to

the otker. " My mother says this is the way it really was

but only worse. Several men across the way struggle to

get a wall into place in the driving rain and wind.

Fially the set is ready. The extras are called out during a lull
in the storm to sit on the blanket covered rows of Rayxx balled hay

20
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A couple of takes are made, but it begins to drizzle. The audience
patiently sits waiting for the next set up. when one of the women in
the audienc come over the radio: " Cloudy today, some chance of
showers, 10% chance tomorrow, clearing Ihrusady." Everyone

laughs at the unexpected interruption and the familiar sauRXx

manner in which she read the report. She sounded just like

the weather report one dials for overt he pnone. She must

have coppied it down and read it verbatim.

Clyde studied at Northwesterna and had been with the East West
Players for sveral years. Altho young, he often plays middle-
aged men, Since he's from Hawaii no one in his family was sent to
camp. But his grandafther was investicated by the FBI as he
was a leader of the local community. "If it were the forties,
I1'd volunteerr just like my Dad did. 1It's diff. today, but
then, bearing up and proving you were strong was the way to
go. Thosw were the days of John Wayne movées and going over
the hill heroes....I can identify with Teddy having a lot

of responsibility, I've had a lot with the East West Plyers:
I1've produced stage manged, yoube' got to do your best and

if ou fail, youjve got to own up to it. I've also read a

lot and done a few plays based on the camps which has been

a help to me."

Vicky, who song: the famous madame Butterfly areia, has a bulb
pop in her face just as she is about to sing. Fortuantely

she is not hurt. A single drop of water did it. She lives
just over the border in Oregon where she tead hes music.

Asked by lYuki if there are a lot Jpanese Americans in her
area she says, "no, just one other I know of. A library
asistant," "And how do the people treat you there?" She
smiles slyly, "Veryy carefully, very carefully." Yuki

nods in understanding.

Yuki siapproached by a pair of young men. One tells him is a
student form Sacramento State, wants ot know how k& actos
get started and all. " I came cause I really wanted to

find out more about acting, filming. It's a whole new thing
for me. Yuki advise him to get some credentials, to stydy.
"jt's a rough business it takes a while.” " it is a little
different than I imagined it, says the student, as the grips
carry the women in the cast over the now enormous pools of
water into the mess hall. The tarp covering the stage has
become overburneded by water, and even though the crew uses
long posles to push up and cause the water to spill over

the edges, it ig filling up too fast and may break through
at any moment. thers hurry about with plastic wrapped camera

ear, and lights rushin% them into the wardrobe area whish
as been hidden behind the set.

SC 141 and 135
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The PtA scene is set up for the evening. The day has gone rather
slowly because of the storn. Everything is soggy and all the rooms
are clogged yp with the mud, which doesn't scarpe well of one's
shoes, but eventually just comes off in doughy globs, someimgxx time
after you've gone inside. One of the extras asks what the scene
is. " Its' a PTA meeting answers one of the crew." " Oh, I can do
that, I'm an expert." A young father, actually the father of the
child who plays chiyoko's two-year old, says," Well, Im on the
Nursery school committe and that's enough for me. " someone
comments on how much longer he has to go serving on parnest
committees. One extra tries to leave. He wants to see hisi
daughter who seems to be somewhere outside. Aggie, the wardrobe
mistress, searches about for someone who cna spek Jpaanese.

One of the other extras expalains that his daughter and her husband
knows he is working and are waiting for him in the mess hall.

He sits back down. Later, during th scene, his daughter and her
husband come in to watch. "Whg does he stand like that, he always
stand like that...so straight and stiff." She worries that he

isn't doing his part well. Actually, at that moement he is

clearly not even in the shotl.

A young teenage girl, in the mess hall says she glad to have the
chance to sed how a movée is made. , but more importantly,

I'm glad to be here because we don't ever hear anyﬁhing about this
in school, just a few lines in our history books. “11 the kids

my age --not fust the Jpanese-Americans, but everyone hardly

knows it happened. I'm getting some idea of what it was like."
After she sleaves to go to the set an older womanturns to her
neighbor and says, " You have to have lived it, to know waht

it was really like. There is no way it will ever really be

clear to anyone else."

22



WEDNESDAY JULY 1§, 1975

jimmie Takashi Nakamura, a Kibei tho was sent to Japan between
the ages of 11 and 17 along with his three younger bpothers.
Mamy people were kihei because tt was cheaper, not because

of some loyalty to Jpane. My grandfather was alwful in Japan,
he ahd fallen into dringking, so as the eldinst 1 would make
lunch for' the others. When I came back to the USA in July 41,
I left the family, lived by myself, I didnt' want to have
anything to do with my parents, The other three were still

too young to leave home, 11 of us just happened to be sent
to Manzanar, I was a no-no on the loyalty oath and got set

to Tule Lake for particpating in the riot. We wanted to

get some of our friens out, When we were sentto Tule Lake

we used to wear headbands with red hoshidan over our sahved
heads, By coiling awire around a pencil, we were able to take
a readio and make it short wave. We listened to the Jpanaese
broadecasts and then rinted an underground news notice about
how ten American Battleships ere sunk etd, EWe #took special
delight in putting them under the doors of loyal Americans.

When white Americans come to really know about the minorities,
things will be better. We whould have more things like this,

If you didn't sign the loyalty nath yes-yes your weren't loyal

to the US. ‘herefore, you were automatically loyal te Jpan.
Everything was black and white there was no in between, but

me and lots af other kibei didn't belong to anyone. The

Japanese didn't want and neither did the AMericans. I got invovled
in the e iot because ; wanted free some friends, He is of medium
heighth, and hasn't shaved this morning. After his wardrobe change,
he looks much nlder in the bapgey pants.

I met John in April. I had helped to organize five buses to vislt
Tulelake. The local papers daid, "Japs to invade Tulellake.," We had
to keep preetty tight security. No one got off the busses in Redding
or anywhere on the way except unscheduled rest stops. At one

gas station a reporter from uPl tried to join us, but I wouldn't

let hij. We'd stayed in the fairgrounds and kept a pretty

tight watch on things. When we came out to the main gate here,
there was John, He started taking pictures. "Just one more snap,"”

I thought, " and I'm going to break that camera over his head."

The press here had been so bad you see. Then he showed me his

card and explained to me what he was doing It was OK then.,

OGATAS + 4 children living in Arcata and working at Humboldt

I was about 11 when we were told to leave. We lived out beyiond
19th 4ve in SF and we weren't allow to cross that line in the
short five days they gave us to arrange our affairsWe were sent
to Santa Anita where we stayed from About april to October.
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It was awful, living in horse stalls., <0 unclean. even the showers
were converted stalls, I never felt clean after taking a bath.

It almsot seemed I'd be better off without one. The mess halls
were make shift affairs, huge lines and awful heat. The food wouldn't
keep and there was a lot of dysentery. Later, we were sent to
Topaz. When we came back to SF our things which someone was
supposed to have kept for us had...wandered off. At first we
stayed with various fireds so I could go to shcools. but my

Dad wasn't shre he wanted to tryto open a business in SF up

again. At first, he was at least able to get some work in someone
else’'s busines..

Mr. Ogata: At 18 my family had a nice faarm in Mountain View,

When the first restrictions came, we moved to California Hot

Springs on the other side of Highway 99, which was the diving

line for “alifornai. We were luckiy enought to get some work at a
resort cleaining the pool, ete, mysister was secreatary. The hwole
family workd, .ome of the other families who were also there weren't
lucky enough to bet work. It looked like California was going to be col
completely close off, so we told our boos we were going to go,

He understood. We had packed up the car and said goodbye to our
friends in the area. Just as we were actually leaving, ourboss

told us they had colsed off Calif, We thought about trying to

ge through, but he said he didn't think it would be safe to try,

$o we stayed. In a matter of days we were shipped off to Poston.

“There were actually three camps at Poston: One, Two and Three.
We used to call them Poston, Tost'em and Roast'em. I worked in
the kitchen for the six months I was there. I sued to come out
to cool off. It would be 110 out of doors, I have no idea what
the temperature in the kitchen was. I had a brother in 41 who
was already in the Army. *e had two months to go when' Pearl
Harbor happened. He was so looking forward to getting out.

In those days it was only for a year.

I got out by going to college. Actually, if the War and the camps
hadn't come along , I probably would never have gone to collegel

I would have probably stayed with the family farm. Anyway, I

had met some Seventh Day Advent isis in Calif Hot springs and they
told me about their college in Nebraska. So wehn things began to
quiet down in the cmps, I applied, lt was simply a matter of
paperwork as many Jpanaese Americans had already been cleared to
go to school there, On the train, there was also a Jpanaese
American woman witha baby. At the station stop, she went into the
restaurant to have the baby's bottle warmene. the Woman there
wouldn't give ther tth e time sof day. She came back crying, looking
at me, There wasn't a thing I could do for her. it prob bly would
be worse if I tried. A Caucasioan woman asked her what was |arong ,
and she was absolutely livid when hse heard what had gone on.

Fove me that bottle she sad, and I guess she gave thea woman a
piece of her mind. anyway, the baby got its milk warmed.
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Now, as well as the geta factory, there is a group making tissue
paper flowers by the score. it reminds me of my high school

days ehen wex a bunch of girls would sit in a group and make
flowers the same way to use in homecoming pararades and at
dances. XXXXBut these flowers are for the funeral scene.
Yesterday, mem a half a dozen men, some of them extras helped

to strip a coffin, of ats felt covering, to make in plain

and stark. Af ew girls go over and tie the flowers onton a
cardborad donut to make a wreath.

I asked what all the geta were for. ringinally they hmad made
some for oneofthe scens, but so many people in the cast,

wanted a apri to keep that the "geta committee" continues

to make them. It is much like camp..waiting is boring, and

the people welcome something to do. They turn scraps of wood
and cloth into geta which members of Jeanne's family and others
circulate with and aske the cast and crew to autograph them.

Momo and Lou are once again at the piano, but this time it is

in a classroom, Jan Ogata, mam® a teeenager is an extra in about

her fifth costume since she has been here. Someon says there is

a certain inventiveness to solving the problems of movie makeing,

on a day to day bass: JK Says yese it's dayd to day, it's called
survival, taking a daya at a time. That too parallels the

situation in the camps. Each day, in the beginning was achallenbe
One could not stop because of probelms. The people just had to go on.

Lou: I had a Model A coupe and I had my dad drive me up here.
There wasn't much of anywhere to go and with gas rationing it
seemed silly for me to bring up my car. We did use to go to
LA once in a while whe fill up someone's car and each of us
would help pay the bill. I'd go to Southern California Music
Company and get music and all; sometimes instruments. I'd buy
a good used instrument and then the family would pay it off bit
by bit as they could.

I didnjt have anything to do after I wasn't accepted by the army.

I wanted to teach so I applied through the UCLA placement bureau. I
had put on my card under remarks:'I would be interested in something
unususal."” Well, the viceprindipal of the Manazanar Hi School camer
down to UCLA and interviewed a bunch of us, He made it sound really
bleak, (how hard it would be to interst people,etc) but that made me
mad. I kmx now think he did that to thin out the people who really
wouldn't be ablg to take it, or like it. But I couldnkt resist

the challente. hen I arrived, I told the MP at the gate that

I was a muci teacher. He responded:' If you get this kids to sing

a tune together in a year, it'll be a miracle.”

I wrote my little meoirs about a year after I left. I missed camp,

and it still was not empty. The xhools had closed, but people had
not all gone home.
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"In the beginning, when I went kam to LZ I would s
going home, I'11 be back “unday night,"” but as tim
I would say,' I'm going to LA, I'l1 be home sunday
After all, Manzanar was the biggest city between R
When I used to come over those Arkanza? hills and

place lit up in the vally, I really did feel I was

ay,' I'm

e whent by,
night . i

eno and LA,
see the
coming home.

I come from a working class family, My dad was a landscaper and

I was the only child. They were from Missouri and
out here bwofer the thirties.

The teachers frist lived in the school block in a
When I first got there there was a blind teacher a
and his dog. One of them had a box springs, the ot
There was one more got, with a straw mattress, I g
was for me. Later specific housing was built for

they dorve

nearby barracks.
nd his guide,
her a mattress.
athered that

the teachers,

complete with private baths and all, but I never moved. I don't

think I was going ober board, well, anyway I got a
" I have friends over her,”I said. "Here they can
as they please, I don't want them embarasses to co
house,"” -0 I was really grandstanding.

way with it.
come and go
me to my

After Manzanar I had good teaching offers, but they all sounded

80 dull, I just couldn't work up any enthusiasn.
with notheing and the people applaud the results,
to beat. If I kept teahcing I thought, 'by the ti

When you start
that's had
me you're forty,

you'll have a family, a mortgae, and all that --which is very nice--

but then I might say, ' I never gave show lbusines
wondering the rest of my life if I shouldn't have.

So I went to Newy York and lucked out, I got a job

s a try” 1'd be

in the chorus

of Oklshoma and stayed with it for nine months, even had a small
solo.Well, I thought I had done enough of that, was ready to move up,

I was so naive because I had so much luck. I went

family in LA. When I came back it wasn't so easy,

acting and all, because I knew it was nescessary a
become very interested in dramtic parts.

A year ago, we had a June calss reunion, inside we
As we talked names I hadn't thought of for years c
Like Yoshimura Kami who after he graduated had bec
asst. At the reunion I ran into his cousin who sa
where he hs head of the departement and on the sta
competititons, etc. etc., I immediatly got a lette
from him. He was head choral man. No more than A

at only 48 years of age. There are tears in his e

off to visit my
but I began to study ac
nd I had also

were all the same,
ame flooHing in.
ome my teaching

id is at St Olaf's
te juding for

r and programs
month later he died
yes nad he is

visibly controling himself. "His family sent me Xeroxes of reviews

and awards and all kinds of things about w hat he
IN the accompanying letter, they said, We are send

had accomplished,
ing gou thése

things because he alsways said, 'you were responsible,”
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Lou teels of how the m-nos were shipped out the first winter?

If one in a family said no-no, everyne would. The forms were

confusing as well ans some mismarked them, nonethe less when

the day came, they were all shopped édut. People were standing or
whatever in a huge line of trucks, and people were running about lokking
for a chance to say a last goodbye to their grieds. An old '
lady whom I didn't even know reached out and clutched my hadn.

It was awful. Agian he is visibly moved; beeing here has made

his years at Manzanar as vivd as they were twenty- five years agoa.

Lillian, Jeanne's sister got into farming, but now she's a nurse;s
aide. She had been one at manz. , but I think she lost interest
when one of the mupervisors became mean to the girsl, going along
and pulling the riboons from kexxkakx their hair. Its taken all
this time for her to try it agian."”

Seeing the cotton hose on the women, the black slacks on the girls,
all the saddel shoes, makes it all come back to me. Going over
"I'11 Remember April"” with Momo, saying, "Let's try it from here..
In the middle of all this, I found myself thinking, 'You're still.
doing the same thing, bangnb aon an old out of tune piano, in

a damp barracks as if it were a concert Steinway."

"Ideally, 1'd like to continue working until the last day of my

life. I love acting. My first job after leaving the camp eas in

the chorus of Okalahoma' I even gt a tiny solo. Not bnowing how
lucky I had been to gt any job m, much less one with Richard, Rodgers,
I left it after nine months to go to LA and vist my family:

*This is enou§h.'1 Said,"I'11 go hone and whn I come back I'll get

a bigger job. I really had to come down out of the clouds when

I came back. I kega had begun to study acting because I could see
the necessity for it and I liked it as well.

LOU FRIZZELL 6311 Primrose Ave, Hollywood, 90068 apt. 17
(213) 466-3600 messages 874-0100
Agent: Kumin Olenick Mr. Bernei Carneal 213: 553-8561

Lou then gave me a copy of his memoirs from camp, wrtitenonly a
yaera or so after he fleft, He says, there are losts I would change
in this now, but at the time it seemed the thing to do.

Jim houston comes up and adds tat the interview with he vice-pricnipal
becmae Lou's arrival in the film.

At the rehearsal of Mom's song, Liillian and Jeanne sttod to the side

listening. Jeanne had tears in her eyes, and Lillian too, was very

guiet. I left them to their reminiscenes and waled out into the muddy
ire break.

Bob Knoshita told a story of how people were afraid to stuff their
matt4 esses because the local snakes, especiallay the rattlers were
hide int the straw. One had to poke around a bit in order to be
sure of not getting bitten. There were a lot of snakes at Poston.
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The kids one day found a baby rattler . At first they thought it

was a stick in the road, but when they found out wit was a snake, they
it in a can and brought it inside. the thing was rattling away,

the kids parents were horrified. Baby rattlers are just about

as poisonous as the adults, tyou know.,

»[HURSDAY JULY 17 1975

Jimmy kkx Saito, age twenty, None of my family was in camps,
because we Bad a farm in Oklahoma. , But my mother and older
sbrothers had read and known of it, Ithink they felt a little
guildty because nothing much happened to them. I know Ixfekexax
kirxkexgukkxyxshekd she'd felt a little guilty about all that.

A niece of Jeanne's whom I knew at Sand Diego State, was up

at San jose one weekeend, I had been visiting some friends in
Berkekely and stoppe dby to see her on my way back down. She took
me over to Jeanne's in Santa Cruz and introduced me to Jeanne who'
said she mention me to JK as she thought the part of Richard was
still open. She took my agents name. Three or four weeks went

by. I workd on MIDWAY, and I was still waiting for some kind of
reply., thinking about it, Finally I called Jeanne: I just
wanted to know if the casting is over, I don't want to push you
or anythdng, I just wanted to know so I could stop thingkinga
about it. While I had been on Midway, many other people had read
the script and said it was good. Well, JN called me the nnxt

day, but he wasn't going to La andy more I said that I wouod

fly up and read for him, which I did. It was only the week before
shooting was to begin. That's how I got the part.

World W r II had been just another wa int he history books to

me. hdd never had tofafe much prejudice. The night before

I went down to san Jose to see Jeanne's niece I had never thought
about it, when the subject came up and , someone asked me if I

had read Farewell To Manzanar, and also mentioned after hearing I
was an actor that JK was foing to do it. For the very first time
in my life I wealized that Mother and fathere were living in

and through the time wehn JAP GO HOME was a common aemrican thing.
I realized that as close as I am to my family, that this was a
part of their experience and that of my older borthers, thatn
wasn't a part f mine.

I feel funny acting with these people because they're so well-trained.
The "family® got together the Satufiday before to readthe script.

I was just awed by the way they went through it...but I decided

that it menta I just had to work athat much harder to keep up

with them. High School and College shows are just for amusement
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